# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
-----------

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTER ENDED September 30, 2008.

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER:
NRDC ACQUISITION CORP.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 26-0500600 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

3 Manhattanville Road Purchase, New York 10577 (Address of principal executive office)

(914) 272-8067 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o
Non-accelerated filer x
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes x No o.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

The number of shares of the issuer's Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value, outstanding as of November 12, 2008 was 51,750,000.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I – FIN	NANCIAL INFORMATION	<u>Page</u>
Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
	Condensed Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2008 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2007	۷
	Condensed Statements of Income (Unaudited) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2007 and July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008	5
	Condensed Statement of the Stockholders' Equity (Unaudited) for the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008	(
	Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008 Notes to Financial Statements	5
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	12
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	13
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	13
PART II – O	THER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	13
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	14
Item 2.	Use of Proceeds from the Registered Offering and the Private Placement	14
Item 6.	Exhibits	15
SIGNATURE	ES	17
	2	

# PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

# Item 1. Financial Statements.

### **Basis of Presentation**

The financial statements at September 30, 2008 and for the periods ended September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007 are unaudited. The condensed financial statements include the accounts of NRDC Acquisition Corp. (the "Company"). In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal accruals) have been made that are necessary to present fairly the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the nine months then ended. The December 31, 2007 balance sheet and the statement of stockholders' equity for the period ended December 31, 2007 have been derived from the audited financial statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The statements and related notes have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations.

# CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

	(UNAUDITED)	
	September 30,	December 31,
	2008	2007
ASSETS		
Cash & cash equivalents	\$ 8,965	\$ 198,570
Investments held in trust	396,255,166	395,323,737
Investments held in trust from underwriter	14,490,000	14,490,000
Income taxes receivable	506,278	-
Prepaid expenses	7,069	128,130
Deferred tax asset	636,874	133,069
Total assets	\$ 411,904,352	\$ 410,273,506
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Accounts Payable	\$ -	\$ 26,310
Income taxes payable	-	1,311,589
Accrued expenses	187,981	369,961
Accrued offering costs	1,500	69,000
Deferred interest payable	810,428	-
Deferred underwriting fee	14,490,000	14,490,000
Total liabilities	\$ 15,489,909	\$ 16,266,860
Common Stock, subject to possible conversion of 12,419,999 shares at conversion value	\$ 117,590,055	\$ 117,590,055
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, \$.0001 par value Authorized 5,000 shares; none issued and outstanding	_	-
Common stock. \$.0001 par value Authorized 106,000,000 shares		
Issued and outstanding 51,750,000 shares (which includes 12,419,999 shares subject to possible		
conversion)	5,175	5,175
Additional paid-in-capital	274,697,319	274,677,214
Earnings accumulated during development stage	4,121,894	1,734,202
Total stockholders' equity	\$ 278,824,388	\$ 276,416,591
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 411,904,352	\$ 410,273,506

# CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

# UNAUDITED

	For the thre months ende September 3 2008		For the nine months ended September 30, 2008		July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2007		July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008	
Interest income	\$	1,506,740	\$	4,672,270	\$		\$	8,031,293
General & administrative expenses Income before Provision for Income Taxes Provision for Income Taxes Net Income for the period	\$	116,748 1,389,992 556,689 833,303	\$	661,106 4,011,164 1,623,472 2,387,692	\$	731 (731) - (731)	\$	1,107,407 6,923,886 2,801,992 4,121,894
Weighted average shares outstanding Basic & diluted		51,750,000		51,750,000		10,350,000	=	42,281,839
Net Income per share Basic & diluted	\$	0.02	\$	0.05	\$	(0.00)	\$	0.10

# CONDENSED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

# For the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) to September 30, 2008

#### Common Stock **Earnings** accumulated Additional during paid-in development Stockholders' capital **Shares** Amount stage **Equity** Issuance of units to Founders on July 13, 2007 at approximately \$.002 per share \$ \$ 25,000 10,350,000 \$ 1,035 23,965 \$ Sale of Private Placement Warrants 8,000,000 8,000,000 Sale of 41,400,000 units through public offering (net of underwriter's discount and offering expenses) including 12,419,999 shares subject to possible conversion 41,400,000 4,140 384,243,304 384,247,444 (117,590,055) Proceeds subject to possible conversion (117,590,055)1,734,202 Net Income 1,734,202 Balance at December 31, 2007 51,750,000 5,175 1,734,202 276,416,591 274,677,214 UNAUDITED Adjustment to expenses incurred in initial public offering 20,105 20,105 Net Income 2,387,692 2,387,692 Balance at September 30, 2008 274,697,319 278,824,388 51,750,000 5,175 4,121,894

# CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS UNAUDITED

	For the nine months ended September 30, 2008	July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2007	July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net income	\$ 2,387,692	\$ (731)	\$ 4,121,894
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	101.001		( <b>7</b> .000)
Prepaid expenses	121,061	-	(7,069)
Interest on investments held in trust	(5,481,929)	-	(8,838,786)
Income taxes receivable Deferred tax asset	(506,278)	-	(506,278)
Accounts payable	(503,805) (26,310)	-	(636,874)
Income taxes payable	(1,311,589)	-	-
Deferred interest payable	810,428	_	810,428
Accrued expenses	(181,980)	731	187,981
Net cash used in operating activities	(4,692,710)		(4,868,704)
rece cash used in operating activities	(4,032,710)	= =======	(4,000,704)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Withdrawal of funds from investments placed in trust	4,550,500	_	4,550,500
Investments placed in trust	-,555,555	_	(406,456,881)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	4,550,500		(401,906,381)
iver cash provided by (asea in) investing activities	4,550,500	:======================================	(401,300,301)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from the sale of units to public	_	_	414,000,000
Proceeds from private placement of warrants	-	-	8,000,000
Proceeds from sale of units to Founders	-	25,000	25,000
Proceeds from notes payable to affiliates of Founders	-	200,000	200,000
Repayment of notes payable to affiliates of Founders	-	-	(200,000)
Payment of offering costs	(47,395)	(94,411)	(15,240,950)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(47,395)	130,589	406,784,050
Net (decrease) increase in cash	(189,605)	130,589	8,965
Cash at beginning of period	198,570	-	-
Cash at end of period	\$ 8,965	\$ 130,589	\$ 8,965
	- 0,505		
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:			
Accrual of deferred underwriting fee	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 14,490,000
Accrual of offering costs	\$ -	\$ 402,306	\$ -
rectum of offering costs	ψ <u>-</u>	Ψ 402,300	<u>-</u>

### **Notes to Financial Statements**

### 1. Organization and Proposed Business Operations

Nature of Operations

NRDC Acquisition Corp. (the "Company") is a blank check company incorporated on July 10, 2007 for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, stock purchase, asset acquisition or other similar business combination with one or more existing operating businesses ("Business Combination").

All activity from the Company's inception through September 30, 2008 relates solely to the Company's formation, a private placement ("Private Placement") of its securities, the initial public offering ("Public Offering" and, together with the Private Placement, the "Offerings") of its securities described below and the Company's efforts to identify a target business.

The financial statements at September 30, 2008 and for the periods from inception to September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007, the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and the period from inception to September 30, 2007 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal adjustments) have been made that are necessary to present fairly the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2008, the results of its operations and cash flows for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008, the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2007 and the period from inception to September 30, 2008 and the results of operations for the three month period ended September 30, 2008. Operating results for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

The registration statement for the Company's Offering (as described in Note 4) was declared effective on October 17, 2007 (the "Effective Date"). The Company consummated the offering on October 23, 2007, and received net proceeds of approximately \$384,000,000 and also received \$8,000,000 of proceeds from the private placement sale ("the Private Placement") of 8,000,000 insider warrants to NRDC Capital Management, LLC (the "Sponsor"). The warrants sold in the Private Placement are identical to the warrants sold in the Offering, but the purchasers in the Private Placement have waived their rights to receive any distributions upon liquidation in the event the Company does not complete a Business Combination as described below.

The Company's management has broad discretion with respect to the specific application of the net proceeds of this Offering, although substantially all of the net proceeds of this Offering are intended to be generally applied toward consummating a Business Combination. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully effect a Business Combination. Upon the closing of the Offering and Private Placement, \$406,456,881 including \$14,490,000 of the underwriters' discounts and commissions as described in Note 3, was deposited in a trust account ("Trust Account") and invested in United States "government securities" within the meaning of Section 2(a)(16) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 having a maturity of 180 days or less or in money market funds meeting certain conditions under Rule 2a-7 promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940 until the earlier of (i) the consummation of its first Business Combination and (ii) liquidation of the Company. The placing of funds in the Trust Account may not protect those funds from third party claims against the Company. Although the Company will seek to have all vendors, providers of financing, prospective target businesses or other entities it engages, execute agreements with the Company waiving any right, title, interest or claim of any kind in or to any monies held in the Trust Account, there is no guarantee that they will execute such waiver agreements or that such agreements will be enforceable. NRDC Capital Management, LLC and the Company's executive officers have agreed that they will be liable under certain circumstances to ensure that the proceeds in the Trust Account are not reduced by the claims of target businesses or vendors, providers of financing, service providers or other entities that are owed money by the Company for services rendered to or contracted for or products sold to the Company. There can be no assurance that they will be able to satisfy those obligations. The net proceeds not held in the Trust Account may be used to pay for business, legal and accounting due diligence on prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administrative expenses. Additionally, up to an aggregate of \$2,700,000 of interest earned on the Trust Account balance may be released to the Company to fund working capital requirements and additional funds may be released to fund tax obligations.

The following table reconciles the amount of net proceeds from the Offering and the Private Placement in the Trust Account to the balance at September 30, 2008:

Contribution to trust	\$406,456,881
Interest income received	8,838,785
Withdrawals for working capital purposes	(605,356)
Withdrawals to fund tax payments	(3,945,144)
Total investments held in trust including underwriters discounts and commissions held in trust	410,745,166
Less: Underwriters discounts and commissions held in trust	(14,490,000)
Total investments held in trust	\$396,255,166

The Company, after signing a definitive agreement for the acquisition of a target business, is required to submit such transaction for stockholder approval. In the event that public stockholders owning 30% or more of the shares sold in the Offering vote against the Business Combination and exercise their conversion rights described below, the Business Combination will not be consummated. All of the Company's stockholders prior to the offering ("Founders"), have agreed to vote their founding shares of common stock in accordance with the vote of the majority of the shares voted by all other stockholders of the Company ("Public Stockholders") with respect to any Business Combination and in favor of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to provide for the Company's perpetual existence. In addition, our Founders have agreed to vote all shares they acquire in the secondary market in favor of the business combination and for such amendment. After consummation of a Business Combination, these voting safeguards will no longer be applicable.

With respect to a Business Combination which is approved and consummated, any Public Stockholder who voted against the Business Combination may demand that the Company convert his or her shares. The per share conversion price will equal the amount in the Trust Account, calculated as of two business days prior to the consummation of the proposed Business Combination, divided by the number of shares of common stock held by Public Stockholders at the consummation of the offering. Accordingly, Public Stockholders holding 12,419,999 shares sold in the Offering may seek conversion of their shares in the event of a Business Combination. Such Public Stockholders are entitled to receive their per share interest in the Trust Account computed without regard to the shares of common stock held by the Founders prior to the consummation of the Offering. Accordingly, a portion of the net proceeds from the Offering (29.99% of the amount placed in the Trust Fund, including the deferred portion of the Underwriters' discount and commission) has been classified as common stock subject to possible conversion and a portion (29.99%) of the interest earned on the Trust Account, after deducting the amounts permitted to be utilized for income tax obligations and working capital purposes, has been recorded as deferred interest on the accompanying balance sheets. Pursuant to letter agreements, our sponsor and directors have waived their right to receive distributions with respect to their founding shares upon the Company's liquidation.

The Company's Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Company will continue in existence only until 24 months from the effective date of the Offering, October 17, 2007. If the Company has not completed a Business Combination by such date, its corporate existence will cease and it will dissolve and liquidate for the purposes of winding up its affairs. In the event of liquidation, it is likely that the per share value of the residual assets remaining available for distribution (including Trust Fund assets) will be less than initial public offering price per share in the Offering (assuming no value is attributed to the Warrants contained in the Units to be offered in the Offering discussed in Note 4).

## 2. Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The effect of the 41,400,000 warrants issued in connection with the Offering and the 8,000,000 outstanding warrants issued in connection with the Private Placement has not been considered in diluted income per share calculations since such warrants are contingently exercisable.

## 3. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and investments held in trust. We may maintain deposits in federally insured financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits. However, our management believes we are not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial position of the depository institutions in which those deposits are held.

# 4. Initial Public Offering

On October 23, 2007, the Company sold 41,400,000 units ("Units") in the Offering at a price of \$10 per unit. Each Unit consists of one share of the Company's common stock and one Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrant ("Warrants"), including 5,400,000 units sold by the underwriters in their exercise of the full amount of their over-allotment option. Each Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase from the Company one share of common stock at an exercise price of \$7.50 commencing the later of the completion of a Business Combination and 12 months from the effective date of the Offering and expiring four years from the effective date of the Offering. The Company may redeem all of the Warrants, at a price of \$0.1 per Warrant upon 30 days' notice while the Warrants are exercisable, only in the event that the last sale price of the common stock is a least \$14.25 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending on the third day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is given. In accordance with the warrant agreement relating to the warrants sold and issued in the Offering, the Company is only required to use its best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement covering the Warrants. The Company will not be obligated to deliver securities, and there are no contractual penalties for failure to deliver securities, if a registration statement is not effective at the time of exercise. Additionally, in the event that a registration statement not being effective or otherwise) will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrant exercise. Consequently, the Warrants may expire unexercised and unredeemed.

In connection with the Offering, the Company paid Banc of America Securities LLC, the underwriter of the Offering, an underwriting discount of 7% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, of which 3.5% of the gross proceeds (\$14,490,000) will be held in the Trust Account and payable only upon the consummation of a Business Combination Banc of America Securities LLC have waived their right to receive such payment upon the Company's liquidation if the Company is unable to complete a Business Combination.

Simultaneously with the consummation of the offering, the Company's Sponsor purchased 8,000,000 warrants ("Private Placement Warrants") at a purchase price of \$1.00 per warrant, in a Private Placement. The proceeds of \$8,000,000 were placed in the Trust Account. The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Warrants underlying the units sold in the Offering except that the Private Placement Warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis as long as they are still held by the initial purchasers. The initial purchasers have agreed that the Private Placement Warrants will not be sold or transferred by them until after the completion of a Business Combination. The purchase price of the Private Placement Warrants approximated the fair value of such warrants at then purchase date.

Our Sponsor will be entitled to make up to three demands that we register the 10,350,000 shares of common stock (the "Founder's shares"), the 8,000,000 private placement warrants and the shares for which they are exercisable, and the 2,000,000 co-investment shares and the 2,000,000 co-investment warrants and the shares of common stock for which they are exercisable, pursuant to an agreement signed prior to the Effective Date. Our Sponsor may elect to exercise its registration rights at any time beginning on the date three months prior to the expiration of the applicable transfer restrictions. The restricted transfer period for the shares and the co-investment shares of common stock expires on the date that is one year after the consummation of the initial Business Combination, and the restricted transfer period for the Private Placement Warrants and the shares for which they are exercisable expires on the consummation of our initial Business Combination. Our directors will have "piggy-back" registration rights with respect to the shares of common stock that they own prior to the completion of this offering, subject to the same limitations with respect to the transfer restriction period. In addition, our Sponsor and our directors each have certain "piggy-back" registration rights with respect to the shares held by them on registration statements filed by us on or subsequent to the expiration of the applicable transfer restriction period and unlimited

registration rights with respect to a registration statement on Form S-3. We will bear the expenses incurred in connection with the filing of any registration statement. Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, our Sponsor and our executive officers and directors will waive any claims to monetary damages for any failure by us to comply with the requirements of the registration rights agreement.

#### 5. Commitments

The Company has agreed to pay up to \$7,500 a month in total for office space and general and administrative services to NRDC Capital Management, LLC. Services commenced on the effective date of the offering, October 17, 2007 and will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the completion of the Business Combination, or (ii) the Company's liquidation. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008, the Company has incurred \$22,500, \$67,500 and \$83,951, respectively of expenses relating to this agreement which is included in general/administrative services in the accompanying Statements of Income.

NRDC Capital Management, LLC has agreed to purchase from the Company an aggregate of 2,000,000 of its units at a price of \$10.00 per unit for an aggregate purchase price of \$20,000,000 in a transaction that will occur immediately prior to the consummation of our initial Business Combination (the "Co-Investment"). Each unit will consist of one share of common stock and one warrant.

Pursuant to letter agreements our sponsor and directors have waived their right to receive distributions with respect to their founding shares upon the Company's liquidation.

The Sponsor will be entitled to registration rights with respect to their founding shares or Private Placement Warrants (or underlying securities) pursuant to an agreement signed prior to the Effective Date of the Offering.

## 6. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141(R), Business Combinations ("SFAS 141R") which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. SFAS 141R also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R will have an impact to the Company for any acquisitions on or after January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB released SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB No. 51 ("SFAS 160"), which establishes accounting and reporting standards for the ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 also establishes disclosure requirements that clearly identify and distinguish between the interest of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners. SFAS 160 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. SFAS 160 may have a material impact to the Company for any acquisitions on or after January 1, 2009.

The Company does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards if currently adopted would have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements.

# 7. Income Taxes

During the nine months ended September 30, 2008 the Company paid \$3,945,144 related to Federal and State income tax expense and estimated tax payments.

### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

## **Forward-Looking Statements**

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our combined consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements regarding the plans and objectives of management for future operations. This information may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, which involve assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identifiable by use of the words "may," "will," "should," "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," "believe," "intend" or "project" or the negative of these words or other variations on these words or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are based on assumptions that may be incorrect, and we cannot assure you that these projections included in these forward-looking statements will come to pass. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors.

We have based the forward-looking statements included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q on information available to us on the date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Although we undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, you are advised to consult any additional disclosures that we may make directly to you or through reports that we in the future may file with the SEC, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K.

### Overview

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes and schedules thereto.

We were formed on July 10, 2007 as a blank check company for the purpose of acquiring, through a merger, stock exchange, asset acquisition, reorganization or similar business combination, one or more operating businesses. We intend to use cash derived from the net proceeds of our Public Offering, which was consummated on October 23, 2007, and the exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, which closed on October 23, 2007, together with any additional financing arrangements that we undertake, to effect a business combination.

Through September 30, 2008, our efforts have been limited to organizational activities and activities relating to our initial public offering; we have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenues. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, we earned \$1,506,740 and \$4,672,270, respectively, in interest income on the trust account net of deferred interest payable of \$338,654 and \$810,428, respectively and we had accrued expenses and offering costs of approximately \$189,481. In addition, we had cash on hand of \$8,965 at September 30, 2008.

## Results of Operations for the three month period ended September 30, 2008

Net Income of \$833,303 reported for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 consisted primarily of interest income on the trust account of \$1,506,740 offset by \$16,349 in expense for professional fees, \$40,649 in insurance expense, \$59,750 in other expenses and \$556,689 in income tax. At September 30, 2008, we had cash outside the trust account of \$8,965, prepaid expenses of \$7,069, income taxes receivable of \$506,278, and accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$187,981.

# Results of Operations for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008

Net Income of \$2,387,692 reported for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 consisted primarily of interest income on the trust account of \$4,672,270 offset by \$311,797 in expense for professional fees, \$34,000 in

AMEX listing fees, \$121,062 in insurance expense, \$194,247 in other expenses and \$1,623,472 in income tax. At September 30, 2008, we had cash outside the trust account of \$8,965, prepaid expenses of \$7,069, income taxes receivable of \$506,278 and accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$187,981.

### Results of Operations for the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2007

A Net Loss of \$731 was reported for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 and consisted of general and administrative expenses of \$731. At September 30, 2007, we had cash outside the trust account of \$130,589, deferred offering costs of \$496,717, accrued offering costs of \$402,306, and accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$731.

# Results of Operations for period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008

Net Income of \$4,121,894 reported for the period from July 10, 2007 (inception) through September 30, 2008 consisted primarily of interest income on the trust account of \$8,031,293 offset by \$652,414 in expense for professional fees, \$34,000 in AMEX listing fees, \$154,641 in insurance expense, \$266,352 in other expenses and \$2,801,992 in income tax. At September 30, 2008, we had cash outside the trust account of \$8,965, prepaid expenses of \$7,069, income taxes receivable of \$506,278 and accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$187,981.

Until we enter into a business combination, we will not have revenues other than interest income, and will continue to incur expenses relating to identifying a target business to acquire.

# Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

To date, our efforts have been limited to organizational activities and activities relating to our initial public offering and the identification of a target business; we have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenues. As the proceeds from our initial public offering held in trust have been invested in short term investments, our only market risk exposure relates to fluctuations in interest rates.

We have not engaged in any hedging activities since our inception on July 10, 2007. We do not expect to engage in any hedging activities with respect to the market risk to which we are exposed.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

As of September 30, 2008, we, including our chief executive officer, who also serves as our principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our management, including the chief executive officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in timely alerting management, including the chief executive officer, of material information about us required to be included in periodic Securities and Exchange Commission filings. However, in evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

### PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

# Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

There is no litigation currently pending or, to our knowledge, threatened against us or any of our officers or directors in their capacity as such.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" in our Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated April 4, 2008, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. There have been no material updates or changes to such Risk Factors that are required to be disclosed in this Item 1A.

# Item 2. Use of Proceeds from the Registered Offering and the Private Placement

On October 23, 2007, we consummated a private placement of 8,000,000 warrants with NRDC Capital Management, LLC, an entity owned and controlled by the executive officers of the Company, and our initial public offering of 41,400,000 units, including 5,400,000 units pursuant to the underwriters' over-allotment option. We received net proceeds of approximately \$384,000,000 and also received \$8,000,000 of proceeds from the private placement sale of 8,000,000 insider warrants to NRDC Capital Management, LLC. Banc of America Securities, LLC served as the sole bookrunning manager for our initial public offering. The securities sold in the Offering were registered under the Securities Act of 1933 on a registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-144871). The Securities and Exchange Commission declared the registration statement effective on October 17, 2007.

Substantially all of the net proceeds of the Offering are intended to be generally applied toward consummating a Business Combination with an operating business. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully affect a Business Combination. Upon the closing of the Offering and Private Placement, \$406,456,881 including \$14,490,000 of the underwriters' discounts and commissions was placed in a Trust Account and invested in United States "government securities" within the meaning of Section 2(a)(16) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 having a maturity of 180 days or less or in money market funds meeting certain conditions under Rule 2a-7 promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940 until the earlier of (i) the consummation of its first Business Combination and (ii) liquidation of the Company.

No portion of the proceeds of the Offering were paid to directors, officers or holders of 100% or more of any class of our equity securities or their affiliates.

# Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No.	Description
1.1	Form of Underwriting Agreement <sup>(2)</sup>
3.1	Second Amended & Restated Certificate of Incorporation <sup>(3)</sup>
3.2	By-Laws <sup>(4)</sup>
4.1	Specimen Unit Certificate <sup>(2)</sup>
4.2	Specimen Common Stock Certificate <sup>(3)</sup>
4.3	Specimen Warrant Certificate <sup>(2)</sup>
4.4	Form of Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and NRDC Acquisition Corp. (2)
5.1	Opinion of Sidley Austin LLP <sup>(2)</sup>
10.1	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(2)</sup>
10.2	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and William L. Mack <sup>(1)</sup>
10.3	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Robert C. Baker <sup>(1)</sup>
10.4	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Richard A. Baker <sup>(1)</sup>
10.5	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Lee S. Neibart <sup>(1)</sup>
10.6	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Michael J. Indiveri <sup>(2)</sup>
10.7	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Edward H. Meyer <sup>(2)</sup>
10.8	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Laura Pomerantz <sup>(2)</sup>
10.9	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Vincent Tese <sup>(2)</sup>
10.10	Letter Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp., Banc of America Securities LLC and Ronald W. Tysoe <sup>(2)</sup>
10.11	Form of Investment Management Trust Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and NRDC Acquisition Corp. (1)
10.12	Form of Letter Agreement between NRDC Capital Management, LLC and NRDC Acquisition Corp. regarding office space and administrative services <sup>(3)</sup>
10.13	Promissory Note issued by NRDC Acquisition Corp. to NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(4)</sup>
10.14	Form of Registration Rights Agreement between NRDC Acquisition Corp. and NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(2)</sup>
10.15	Subscription Agreement between NRDC Acquisition Corp. and NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(4)</sup>
10.16	Private Placement Warrant Purchase Agreement between NRDC Acquisition Corp. and NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(1)</sup>
10.17	Form of Right of First Offer Agreement among NRDC Acquisition Corp. and NRDC Capital Management, LLC, NRDC Real
	Estate Advisors, LLC, NRDC Equity Partners, William L. Mack, Robert C. Baker, Richard A. Baker, Lee S. Neibart, Michael J.
	Indiveri, Edward H. Meyer, Laura Pomerantz, Vincent Tese and Ronald W. Tysoe <sup>(2)</sup>
10.18	Co-investment Agreement between NRDC Acquisition Corp. and NRDC Capital Management, LLC <sup>(1)</sup>
10.19	Letter Agreement between NRDC Acquisition Corp. and Apollo Real Estate Advisors <sup>(1)</sup>
14	Code of Ethics <sup>(3)</sup>
23.2	Consent of Sidley Austin LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1) <sup>(2)</sup>
31.1	Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
31.2	Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1	Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
32.2	Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

99.2	Nominating Committee Charter <sup>(3)</sup>

Audit Committee Charter<sup>(3)</sup>

99.1

- (1) Incorporated by reference to NRDC Acquisition Corp.'s registration statement on Form S-1/A filed on October 17, 2007) (File No. 333-144871).
- (2) Incorporated by reference to NRDC Acquisition Corp.'s registration statement on Form S-1/A filed on September 27, 2007 (File No. 333-144871).
- (3) Incorporated by reference to NRDC Acquisition Corp.'s registration statement on Form S-1/A filed on September 7, 2007 (File No. 333-144871).
- (4) Incorporated by reference to NRDC Acquisition Corp.'s registration statement on Form S-1 filed on July 26, 2007 (File No. 333-144871).

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized

Date: November 12, 2008

NRDC ACQUISITION CORP.

By: /s/ RICHARD A. BAKER
Richard A. Baker
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

### CERTIFICATION

- I, Richard A. Baker, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NRDC Acquisition Corp.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) [Omission in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8760] for the registrant and have:
  - (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) [Omission in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8760];
  - (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2008 By: /s/ RICHARD A. BAKER

#### CERTIFICATION

- I, Richard A. Baker, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NRDC Acquisition Corp.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) [Omission in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8760] for the registrant and have:
  - (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
  - (b) [Omission in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8760];
  - (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2008 By: <u>/s/ RICHARD A. BAKER</u>

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of NRDC Acquisition Corp. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Richard A. Baker, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.

Date: November 12, 2008 By: <u>/s/ RICHARD A. BAKER</u>

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of NRDC Acquisition Corp. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Richard A. Baker, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.

Date: November 12, 2008 By: <u>/s/ RICHARD A. BAKER</u>